
                    NOTICE

                   OF

                   MEETING

CABINET REGENERATION SUB 
COMMITTEE

will meet on

THURSDAY, 26TH OCTOBER, 2017

On the rising of the meeting of Cabinet

in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - GUILDHALL, WINDSOR, 

TO: MEMBERS OF CABINET REGENERATION SUB COMMITTEE

COUNCILLORS SIMON DUDLEY (CHAIRMAN)
JACK RANKIN (VICE-CHAIRMAN)
PHILLIP BICKNELL
CARWYN COX
SAMANTHA RAYNER
MJ SAUNDERS
DAVID EVANS
DAVID COPPINGER 

PRINCIPAL MEMBERS AND DEPUTY LEAD MEMBERS ALSO ATTENDING: 
COUNCILLORS CHRISTINE BATESON, DAVID HILTON, ROSS MCWILLIAMS AND 
PHILIP LOVE

Karen Shepherd - Democratic Services Manager - Issued: 18 October 2017

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator  

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly 
by the nearest exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building 
until told to do so by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings –In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the public section of the meeting will 
be audio recorded, and the audio recording will also be made available on the RBWM website, after the meeting. 

Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings  may be undertaken by any person attending the 
meeting. By entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this 
recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the 
Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To consider the Part I minutes of the meeting held on 26 September 
2017
 

7 - 10

4.  MAIDENHEAD GOLF CLUB

To consider the above report
 

11 - 36

5.  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion 
takes place on items 6-7 on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of part I 
of Schedule 12A of the Act
 



PRIVATE MEETING

6.  MINUTES 
To consider the Part II minutes of the meeting held on 26 September 
2017.

(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

37 - 38

7.  MAIDENHEAD GOLF CLUB - APPENDIX 
To note the Part II appendices to the earlier Part I report.

(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

39 - 48

Details of representations received on reports listed above for 
discussion in the Private Meeting

None received





 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET REGENERATION SUB COMMITTEE

TUESDAY, 26 SEPTEMBER 2017

PRESENT: Councillors Simon Dudley (Chairman), Jack Rankin (Vice-Chairman), 
Phillip Bicknell, Carwyn Cox, Samantha Rayner, MJ Saunders, Derek Wilson and 
David Evans

Principal Members also in attendance: Councillors Christine Bateson, David Hilton and 
Philip Love

Also in attendance: Councillor Malcolm Beer

Officers: Mary Kilner, Andy Jeffs, Russell O'Keefe, Karen Shepherd, Alison Alexander 
and David Scott

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

None received

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None received

MINUTES 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the Part I minutes of the meeting held on 5 
September 2017 be approved, subject to the following amendment:

 p. 9 to read ‘The size of the pool had been increased to 10 lanes, ………’

RIVER THAMES SCHEME - FUNDING 

Members considered recommending to Council a future funding commitment to assist 
in delivery of the River Thames Scheme.

The Sub Committee was addressed by Ewan Larcombe. Mr Larcombe explained that 
for 60 out of 67 years he had lived in Datchet or Wraysbury. He was a member of both 
Datchet and Wraysbury Parish Councils but he was not speaking on their behalf. He 
was the leader of the National Flood Prevention Party. He had been first elected to 
Datchet Parish Council (DPC) in 1986 when the Maidenhead, Windsor and Eton Flood 
Alleviation scheme (MWEFAS) project was being developed. At that time RBWM 
repeatedly refused to talk to DPC on the basis that the channel did not cross the 
parish boundary. Only after the channel was realigned into Datchet (in order to avoid 
Eton College land) did RBM start talking to DPC. Mr Larcombe had given evidence at 
the MWEFAS Planning Inquiry in 1992 and intended to give evidence at the 
forthcoming RTS Planning Inquiry.

In 1992 the Inspector stated 'It would be very embarrassing to all concerned if the 
intended discharge capacity of the FRC was not achieved' but it was to be another ten 
years before that truth became apparent. Not only was the Jubilee River unable to 
carry its design capacity but the channel was also sub-standard in design, construction 
and operation. Structural repair costs after first use in January 2003 at only two thirds 

7

Agenda Item 3



capacity totalled about £10m. Manor Farm Weir was designed and built with the curve 
reversed, the Slough Weir repair cost £680,000 while the Myrke embankment rebuild 
in Datchet cost £1.3m to repair. The designers shut up shop and eventually contributed 
£2.75m in an out-of-court settlement. The promise of enhanced protection for two 
hundred homes in Datchet (as submitted in evidence by the 'experts' at the 1992 
Inquiry) was proven to be incorrect and new houses in Ellesmere Close were a 
monument to professional incompetence. He believed the Environment Agency had 
neither admitted to nor learnt from their previous blunders and it was now at risk of 
repeating the mistakes of the past.

Since the Jubilee River was constructed and Maidenhead and thereabouts has been 
`protected,' ever more development had been permitted on flood plain in the area. 
However displaced flood water had to go somewhere and it went downstream via the 
man-made and shorter Jubilee River channel. Attenuating features had been bypassed 
and the accelerated flood water swamped undefended villages, arriving earlier, rising 
more quickly and peaking at a higher level. Consequently downstream communities 
previously unaffected by flooding since 1947 had been submerged in 2003 and twice 
in 2014; and these were not bad events in comparison to 1947 flood levels.

The recommendations from Clive Onions’ 2004 'Mechanisms of Flooding Report' had 
not been implemented and had still not seen a report on the 2014 flood events. This 
was now a duty on the lead local flood authority under the Floods & Water 
Management Act 2010 Ch. 29 Part 1 (3) s19.

River Thames dredging ceased about 1996, the dredgers were sold and the disposal 
facilities closed. There was no consultation. In Mr Larcombe’s opinion there was an 
opportunity to increase the conveyance capacity of the Thames that had been 
knowingly ignored for twenty years simply because it undermined the justification for 
the proposed three new parallel channels and associated works. He believed that 
channel algae, invasive species, sedimentation and maintenance were major issues 
both now and in the future. Furthermore there were many River Thames bridge flood 
arches that had been blocked and used for business purposes, thus reducing 
conveyance capacity still further and generating afflux that increased flood damage.

Mr Larcombe was concerned about insufficient publicity, insufficient scrutiny, 
unintended consequences and lack of accountability. He would not support the RTS 
until the Jubilee River and the Thames were rectified. He was also concerned that the 
majority of RBWM Councillors due to consider a £12m commitment at a meeting later 
the same evening were blissfully unaware of these facts.

The Chairman explained that the River Thames Scheme (RTS) was a major flooding 
infrastructure project that had been developed by the Environment Agency (EA) for a 
number of years. It would provide flood protection for 15,000 homes, 2300 of which 
were in the borough, and also for the local transport infrastructure.

Councillor Rankin joined the meeting at 5.40pm

The Chairman explained that the current anticipated cost of the scheme was £476m. 
Funding of £248m had been secured so far, therefore leaving a funding gap of £228m. 
He would be attending a meeting with HM Treasury to review progress on the funding 
gap in November 2017, at which point it was likely a decision would be taken whether 
to proceed or not. The scheme covered a number of local authorities, all of which were 
in Surrey aside of the Royal Borough. As Leader, he felt the council should do all in its 
power to bring about the completion of the scheme, to cover the section from the 
Jubilee River to Teddington, given the severe impact of flooding on residents.  The EA 

8



had been clear that the 2014 floods would have been significantly worse if there had 
been a relatively modest increase in rainfall, including closure of the M25 and 
disruption to Heathrow. The RTS was an essential piece of national infrastructure. 

Councillor Beer joined the meeting at 5.43pm

The council was in a position of financial flexibility as a result of its regeneration 
activities to consider capital expenditure of £10m over four years, alongside a flood 
levy of up to £500,000 per annum. 

Councillor Saunders commented that this was a complex process; Mr Larcombe had 
identified a number of issues. It was the council’s responsibility to demonstrate it was 
unambiguously prepared to put money where residents needed. The Chairman 
commented that the likelihood of another server flood event was certain, This was not 
a ‘’nice to have’ but a vital piece if national infrastructure. Councillor Bicknell 
commented that it was a huge risk if the scheme was not funded: 15,000 homes and 
100,000 square feet of commercial space would be affected.

Councillor Love asked how the figure of £10m had been determined. The Chairman 
explained that the EA had originally asked for £50m, which was beyond the means of 
any local authority; £10m was therefore a substantial and meaningful figure. Councillor 
Hilton compared the amount of homes affected to the number in Ascot (18,000), to 
highlight the importance of the scheme. The Chairman highlighted the importance of 
the borough being seen as unequivocally supportive; this would help other councils to 
go through their own due processes and contribute. 

Councillor Beer commented that the parish and borough Flood Forums had been 
considering the scheme for the last ten years. It had always been recognised that the 
local authorities would need to dig deep and contribute. However there was some 
resistance as the borough was dealing with other people’s water, yet had to pay for 
the management. There was a strong argument that the scheme should be nationally 
funded. The Council currently contributed to the River and Coastal Flood Relief 
Committee. To increase the amount to £500,000 was very steep. The leaflet included 
in the agenda outlined the commercial benefits of the scheme, he therefore 
questioned whether Heathrow was contributing. A number of properties in the areas 
affected in 2014 were still not habitable. The Chairman confirmed that conversations 
were ongoing with major infrastructure providers such as Heathrow about 
contributions. 

 Councillor D. Wilson stated that he supported the recommendations. He asked 
whether the Treasury would know all potential contributions from local authorities by 
the next meeting. The Chairman explained that each local authority was considering 
its own position. If approved the proposals represented a big step forward.

Councillor S. Rayner explained that the funding of £285,000 per annum was for four 
years up to the proposed implementation. The maintenance costs would then be 
£500,000 per annum. The 2014 floods had caused devastation to people’s lives and 
many had still not recovered, therefore the scheme was vital. 

9



RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet Regeneration Sub Committee 
recommends to Council: 

i) £10m, spilt over four years, is added to the capital programme 
commencing 2020/21 (subject to delivery of the full scheme).

ii) There is an agreement in principle of paying a flood levy of up to £500,000 
per annum to the Environment Agency as a contribution to the operating 
and maintenance costs (subject to new legislation being enacted to make 
provision for this)

iii) If recommendation (ii) is approved a delegation to the Head of Finance in 
conjunction with the Lead Member for Finance to develop and introduce a 
flood levy be approved

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
whilst discussion takes place on item 6 on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

The meeting, which began at 5.30 pm, finished at 6.05 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                     

 
 

 
1.  RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet Regeneration Sub Committee notes 

the report and:  
 

a. Approves the emerging masterplan (Option 1) for the 
redevelopment of Maidenhead Golf Course. 
 

b. Approves the proposed procurement route (Option 7, 
Contractual Joint Venture Partnership).  
 

c. Recommends to Council a capital budget of £20,000,000 be 
included in the Capital Programme for the acquisition of 
residential or commercial properties that will benefit future 
access to the Golf Course development site.  

 

d. Delegate authority to the Executive Director in liaison with the 
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property to 
acquire residential or commercial properties that will benefit 
future access to the Golf Course development site.  

 

e. Agrees that in the interim period, any properties acquired can 
be utilised by RBWM Property Company for rental purposes. 
 

 

Report Title:     Maidenhead Golf Club  
 

Contains Confidential 
or Exempt 
Information? 

YES – Appendix B and C Part II Not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972  

Member reporting:  Councillor Jack Rankin – Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development and Property 

Meeting and Date:  Cabinet Regeneration Sub Committee – 26 
October 2017 

Responsible Officer(s):  Russell O’Keefe – Executive Director  
 

Wards affected:   All 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 
1. In July 2016 the Council and Maidenhead Golf Club entered into an Agreement 

for the surrender of the Club’s lease of Maidenhead Golf Course. RBWM own the 
freehold of the site. 
 

2. The site at approximately 132 acres is large enough to accommodate 2,000 new 
homes including 30% affordable housing with supporting infrastructure. 
 

3. This report updates on the emerging masterplan options for the site and seeks 
approval for the procurement route. It also recommends a capital budget to 
Council for the acquisition of residential or commercial properties that will benefit 
future access to the site. 

11

Agenda Item 4



2.    BACKGROUND INFORMATION, REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
2.1 In July 2016 the Council and Maidenhead Golf Club entered into an Agreement 

for the surrender of the Club’s lease of Maidenhead Golf Course.   
 

2.2 The site at approximately 132 acres, is large enough to accommodate 2,000 new 
homes including 30% affordable housing with supporting infrastructure. This will 
help meet the housing targets in the Borough Local Plan and help provide much 
needed affordable housing close to the centre of Maidenhead. 
 

2.3 To make sure the Council provides a town for everyone, new homes need to be 
built to meet the accommodation needs of the growing local population. There is 
also a need to deliver new infrastructure and facilities such as schools, roads and 
health facilities. 

 
2.4 The Golf Club site is in a highly sustainable location within walking distance of 

the town centre and its excellent transport links, including Crossrail in 2019. The 
Council is committed to providing high quality homes and infrastructure, as well 
as a sympathetic design in keeping with the surroundings. 

 
2.5 At a meeting of Cabinet Regeneration Sub-committee on 27 June 2017 delegated 

authority was given to design and commence a process to procure a partner for 
the Golf Course with support from development advisers Savills. 

 
2.6 Development proposals have been prepared demonstrating the sites capacity to 

develop in the region of 2,000 residential units with 30% affordable housing and 
supporting infrastructure.   

 
2.7 A vision has been prepared for the site which can be found at Appendix A. This 

was included in a submission from the Council as the landowner as part of the 
Regulation 19 process on the Borough Local Plan.  

 
2.8 Master planning options for the site have been prepared to illustrate how the golf 

course site can accommodate 2,000 residential units and associated 
infrastructure, including education provision.  These are set out in Appendix B. 
They show options that demonstrate how the land could deliver both the 
residential units and a range of education options and community facilities.  
Associated work to promote the development of the site has also commenced.  
This includes preliminary ecology studies, tree assessments, topographical 
studies and open space assessments. This work will facilitate other preparation 
work for the site and the process to procure a development partner for the site.  
It is recommended that Option 1 is progressed as the emerging option. However, 
the masterplan option will not be finalised for the site until a development partner 
is on board and they have had the opportunity to inform the final option 
progressed.  

 
2.9 The assessment of transport and access routings have also started, these have 

identified a number of potential access routes to the site which in turn may result 
in the need to acquire third party properties.  It is recommended that a capital 
budget is recommended to Council to progress the acquisition of third party 
properties on the open market or by negotiation where possible.  

 

12



2.10 It is proposed that any residential dwellings acquired as part of this process to 
benefit the delivery of new housing at the site, be transferred in the interim to 
RBWM Property Company, in order for a rental income to be made available, 
whilst land assembly issues are being completed.  Once these are secure, the 
properties will pass back to the Council, and/or their development partner in order 
to facilitate the redevelopment and regeneration of the overall site. 

 
2.11 Savills have developed a procurement strategy for the site which can be found at 

Appendix C. It recommended that Option 7 is chosen as the procurement route. 
This will mean that the Council can take the site forward with a Joint Venture 
Development Partner, with controlled risk, additional reward, and as much 
flexibility as possible, on the basis that this site will be delivered over a 10-15 year 
period.  

 
2.12 Savills have been preparing the site for formal marketing to procure a 

development partner.  It is proposed that marketing will start with on 3 November 
2017 with an advert in Estates Gazette, a bidder’s presentation on 10 November 
2017 and a partner will be appointed by 31 July 2018. 

 

Option Comments 

1. To agree the proposed 
procurement route and the 
recommendation of a capital 
budget to Council for the 
acquisition of residential or 
commercial properties that 
will benefit future access to 
the site. 
 

This option is recommended 

This will allow the work to progress 
quickly on the procurement of a 
development partner for the site and its 
future delivery. 

2. To not agree the proposed 
procurement route and the 
recommendation of a capital 
budget to Council for the 
acquisition of residential or 
commercial properties that 
will benefit future access to 
the site. 

 
This option is not recommended  

This is not recommended as this will 
result in a delay in the procurement of a 
development partner for the site and its 
future delivery.  

 
 
3.     KEY IMPLICATIONS 

 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Development 
partner 
appointed  

No 
Appointment 

30 
June 
2018 

31 May 
2018 

N/A 31 July 
2018 

 
 
 
 

13



4.    FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
4.1  Financial support for the procurement of a development partner for the site has 

been approved previously.  Approval is sought for a capital budget of up to 
£20,000,000 to acquire third party properties that would benefit access to the site 
through the open market and negotiation where possible.  

 

REVENUE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

    

Addition £0 £0 £0 

Reduction £0 £0 £0 

Net impact  £0 £0 £0 

 

CAPITAL    

Addition £0 £10,000,000 £10,000,000 

Reduction £0 £0 £0 

Net impact  £0 £0 £0 

 
 
5.    LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The Council has a duty to efficiently manage its assets and has legal powers to 

hold and dispose of land under both sections 120 and 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
6.    RISK MANAGEMENT  

 

Risks Uncontrolled 
Risk 

Controls Controlled 
Risk 

Land is not 
allocated for 
development 
in adopted 
Borough 
Local Plan  

Medium / Low A detailed case for 
development has been 
submitted in response to 
recent Regulation 19.  

Low 

Market 
competition 
for acquisition 
of third party 
properties 

Medium  Valuations of properties will 
be assessed and an 
appropriate acquisition 
strategy applied.  

Low 

Marketing 
results in 
poor appetite 
amongst 
development 
industry 

Medium/low  Early soft market testing 
has attracted significant 
interest amongst the 
development community.   
 
Effective market of 
procurement process.  

Low 

 
 
 
 

14



7.    POTENTIAL IMPACTS  
 
7.1  The site has the potential to deliver significant housing, including a range of 

affordable housing.  Supporting infrastructure will also be provided to create a 
new destination for Maidenhead.    

 
8.   CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 Full consultation would be carried out on the proposals for the site once a 

development partner has been selected.  
 
9.    TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
 

Date Details 

July – October 
2017  

Pre-marketing phase  
 

October 2017 – 
June 2018 

Development partner selection process  

July 2018 Contract award  
 

.  
 
10.   APPENDICES  
 
10.1 Appendix A – Land at Maidenhead Golf Club, Vision Document  
10.2 Appendix B – Maidenhead Golf Club Masterplan Options (Part II) 
10.3 Appendix C – Maidenhead Golf Club Procurement Recommendation (Part II) 
   
11.  BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
11.1 N/A  
  
 
12.  CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)  
 

Name of consultee  Post held Date 
sent 

Commented 
& returned  

Cllr Jack Rankin  Lead Member for Economic 
Development and Property  

12/10/17 13/10/2017 

Alison Alexander Managing Director  12/10/17  

Russell O’Keefe Executive Director 12/10/17  

Andy Jeffs Executive Director 12/10/17  

Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 12/10/17  

Terry Baldwin Head of HR 12/10/17  

Mary Kilner Head of Law and 
Governance 

12/10/17 16/10/17 

Louisa Dean Communications and 
Marketing Manager 

12/10/17  

 
 
 

15



Land at Maidenhead Golf Course

Vision  Document
September 2017

16



 2  3

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Contents

Foreword
1. The Vision
2. The Site
3. Policy Context and Delivering Growth
4.  Assessment Summary
5. Concept Design
6.  Next Steps

Foreword

This Vision Document demonstrates and explains how Land at Maidenhead Golf 
Course, can be delivered, not just simply as a means to meet the town's growth 
requirements, but to create a vibrant, sustainable and integrated place.

The land  has the potential to help deliver a new neighbourhood of circa 2000 new 
homes within walking distance of Maidenhead Town Centre and Railway Station. 
Homes will be set within a mature landscape setting including areas of deciduous 
woodland which help create a connected green infrastructure close to the urban 
heart of the town.

17



 4  5

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Vision Statement

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course will deliver a highly 
sustainable urban neighborhood to the immediate south of 
Maidenhead Town Centre, with easy access to a wide range 
of employment opportunities and town Centre facilities as 
well as Maidenhead (Crossrail) Railway Station. It will provide 
much needed housing and affordable housing to the town, 
offering a variety of choices to live and opportunities for social 
interaction.  It will be a welcoming and sensitively designed 
place, with a strong sense of identity where mature woodland 
forms an integral part of the development.

01. The Vision
The masterplan seeks to deliver 
a sensitive and sustainable 
neighbourhood to the immediate 
south of Maidenhead Town Centre 
through achieving the following key 
qualities in place making.

Creating a positive identity to ensure 
that the development responds to 
the local  townscape and creates 
a well defi ned and understandable 
place, utilising and enhancing 
existing landscape features.

Viable and sustainable place, 
delivering a long term thriving place, 
which retains areas of existing 
woodland within a new green 
infrastructure for the benefi t of 
existing and future residents.

Connected and safe walkable 
neighbourhood, responding to 
adjoining areas, including links to 
the existing cycle and footpath 
networks.

Delivering best practice in 
development which is founded on 
high quality and inclusive design and 
responsive to ecology, connecting 
and protecting features and also 
creating opportunities for new 
habitats.

Working with landscape assets by 
incorporating key elements of the 
landscape as part of the identity of 
the development and working with 
local features, including Rushington 
Copse and areas of  Deciduous 
Woodland ‘Priority Habitat’, mature 
trees and hedgerows.

Quality of life, with homes for local 
need, space to live and play, 
primary and secondary education 
provision, good access to nearby 
facilities and a place people can be 
proud of.

Quality new homes in a landscaped setting
4

18



 6  7
Opportunity for mixed use community hub

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

The vision includes:

• The delivery of about 2000 dwellings in a 
series of linked neighbourhoods, each of 
which has its own distinct identity.

• A percentage of the new homes will 
be provided as affordable housing in 
accordance with policy requirements. 

• The provision of land for schools to 
serve new and existing residents of 
Maidenhead.

• The provision of new community and 
retail facilities at a community hub area.  

• An exemplary landscape and 
biodiversity setting, improving existing 
linkages and access throughout the 
area. This would include the retention of 
Rushington Copse and a variety of play 
spaces.

• An advanced programme of 
biodiversity enhancements within the 
wider area including new deciduous 
woodland planting to help compensate 
for any loss of woodland on the site. 

• Improved accessissibility with a carefully 
engineered, comprehensive and 
attractive network of foot and cycleway 
connections within the development 
and new links to the existing footway 
network including:

 ○ the retention of the existing route 
between Shoppenhangers Road 
and Clifton Close

 ○ a new green north-south corridor 
linking Harvest Hill Road with the 
northern end of Shoppenhangers 
Road.

• Access to public transport services 
including a bus route linking Harvest 
Hill Road with the northern end of 
Shoppenhangers Road.  This could 
include a bus gate to control through-
traffi c. 

• Multi-functional SuDS network as an 
integral part of the green infrastructure.

19



 9 8

02. The Site

 8 8

Fig 1: Location plan

Scale NTS

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

The land at Maidenhead Golf Course 
covers an area of approximately 
53.14ha (131.3 acres).  It is presently 
occupied by an 18 hole golf course run 
by Maidenhead Golf Club.   The Royal 
Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
hold the freehold to the land.

The proposed development area, 
as defi ned within this document, is 
a direct response to the physical 
attributes of the local landscape, 
including contours, deciduous 
woodland areas and the adjoining 
infl uences of the existing residential 
land uses to the north, west and east.

A series of background studies have 
been commissioned to inform the 
emerging Vision Document, including 
a preliminary landscape appraisal, 
an ecological survey and a highway 
assessment, which have been carried 
out and informed the illustrative 
concept plan provided later in the 
document. 

The proposals will be further refi ned as 
more detailed studies are carried out.

Maidenhead Station

Site Boundary

Key

The golf course is enclosed by mature 
woodland trees

20



 10  11

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Planning Designations

The site lies within the Green Belt and 
Flood Zone 1. The northern end of 
the site lies adjacent to an Air Quality 
Management Area. The whole site 
lies approximately 0.9km to the west 
of the Bray Meadows SSSI.

Statutory Development Plan

The Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (RBWM) Development 
Plan document relevant to the site 
is the Saved Policies of the RBWM 
Local Plan Incorporating Alterations 
adopted June 2003.  The Local 
Plan is supported by a number of 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance documents which expand 
on Saved Policies of the Local Plan.

The Emerging Local Plan

RBWM are in the process of 
producing the new Borough Local 
Plan 2013-2033 (BLP) which will 
replace the existing Local Plan. A 
Regulation 18 consultation on the BLP 
was held in December 2016 with a 

Regulation 19 consultation launched 
in June 2017. It is proposed to submit 
the BLP to the Secretary of State in 
October 2017 with adoption of the 
plan anticipated in 2018.

The submission version of the BLP 
makes provision for at least 14,240 
new dwellings over the plan period 
between 2013 and 2033. It  proposes 
to remove the Maidenhead Golf 
Course from the Green Belt in order 
that it can be allocated for some 
2,000 homes and related uses.

Green Belt context

The submission version of the BLP 
acknowledges that the limited supply 
of suitable urban and brownfield 
sites means that not all of the 
needed housing growth can be 
accommodated in the Borough’s 
settlements. 

In support of the preparation of the 
new BLP an ‘Edge of Settlement 
Analysis’ has been undertaken 
to consider how land currently 
designated Green Belt performs 
against the purposes of Green Belt 

as defined in the National Planning 
Policy Framework. In relation to 
Maidenhead Golf Course this analysis 
assessed that the site:

• does not contribute to preventing 
unrestricted urban sprawl of a 
built up area;

• does not form or contribute to a 
gap between settlements and 
therefore makes no discernible 
contribution to separation;

• makes a lower contribution to 
safeguarding the countryside 
from encroachment; and

• does not contribute to preserving 
the setting or special qualities of a 
historic place.

The analysis also observed that 
in relation to assisting urban 
regeneration the site might offer 
opportunities to complement and 
reinforce existing town centre 
objectives and initiatives.

Site Allocations

The submission version of the BLP 
identifies Maidenhead Golf Club as 
a site for housing development for 

an estimated 2,000 dwellings (Policy 
HO1). A housing site allocation 
proforma is included in the BLP (ref. 
HA6) and identifies requirements and 
key considerations for the proposed 
allocation.

03. Policy Context and Delivering Growth 

A vision for the area will include medium-rise 
apartments and townhouses within a leafy seting

21



 12  13

Fig 2: Land Use and Local Facilities

Key

CC

Commercial/Retail 

Town Centre 

Primary School  

Secondary School 

Community Centre

Leisure Centre

Pharmacy

Allotments 

Place of Worship 

Golf Centre

Tennis Club

Sports

Doctor’s Surgery 

Hotel

Open Space

Woodland

Residential

Agricultural

Maidenhead Station

Site Boundary

Scale NTS

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Site analysis
A number of preliminary technical 
studies have been carried out to 
examine the physical constraints, 
investigate infrastructure issues 
and establish opportunities to help 
determine the capacity of the site.  
The following summarises the key 
issues.

Existing Facilities
The site forms a wedge of land that 
runs from the southern edge of 
Maidenhead through to the southern 
periphery of the town centre, close 
to Maidenhead Railway Station. 
To the immediate west and east 
the town predominantly consists 
of mid to late twentieth century 
residential properties, including 
Shoppenhangers Road, Braywick 
Road and Desborough Park.  These 
areas also include local shops, 
primary and secondary schools. To 
the east of Braywick Road there is a 
further expansive area of open space 
that includes Braywick Sports and 
Recreation Ground, Maidenhead 
Rugby Football Club, Maidenhead 
Golf Centre, Braywick  Cemetery and 

Braywick Nature Reserve.
Maidenhead Town Centre lies less 
than 0.5km to the north and offers a 
wide range retail and leisure facilities.

Maidenhead has a number of 
business parks offering employment 
opportunities, including Concorde 
Park to the south-west and Stafferton 
Way to the north, both within 0.4km 
of the site boundary.

Maidenhead Railway Station 215m from the 
northern site boundary

Employment opportunities at Concorde ParkA sustainable location close to 
Maidenhead town centre

Employment opportunities at Braywick 
Road22



 14  15

Railway Line 

Motorway

A Roads

B Roads

Minor Roads

Maidenhead Station

Bus Stops

Public Rights of Way  

Open Access Land (Countryside 

and Rights of Way Act)

Site Boundary

Fig 3: Movement and Access: Summary

Scale NTS

Key04. Assessment Summary 

Public footpath connecting Shoppenhangers 
Road to the golf course.

Entrance to site off Shoppenhangers Road

Maidenhead Railway Station access off 
Shoppenhangers Road

Shoppenhanger’s Road to west of site

Accessibility
In terms of transport and highways, the 
site is located to the south of the town, 
between the A308 Braywick Road to 
the east, Shoppenhangers Road to the 
west and Harvest Hill Road to the south. 
As shown by the fi gure below.

The Golf Course currently has a single 
vehicle access off Shoppenhangers 
Road to the northwest of the site. The 
course does have a Public Right of 
Way travelling east/west across the site 
approximately at the midpoint of the 
course.

Connectivity
The site is well placed in terms of 
sustainable modes given its distance 
from the station and town centre.

In terms of pedestrian/cycle 
connectivity, there is a Public Right 
of Way (Footpath 61) which crosses 
the site from south of Fredrick’s on 
Shoppenhangers Road west of the 
site to Clifton Close to the east. This 
provides direct links with the existing 

pedestrian facilities.  East-west 
connectivity will be maintained, but 
may need to be realigned to better tie 
in to the site wide connectivity.

Along Windsor Road, Braywick Road 
and Shoppenhangers Road there 
are footways provided on either side 
with street lighting. There are further 
footways along Harvest Hill Road from 
the junction with Shoppenhangers 
Road to Kimber Lane and from Walker 
Road to Windsor Road. Street lighting is 
provided on this route. 

At the north side of the site, there is 
a signalled dedicated pedestrian 
crossing, providing a link to the railway 
station, town centre and bus stops 
near the train station for connections 
across town.

23



 16  1716

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Public Transport and Access to Crossrail
Public Transport is an important factor to 
encourage a shift in travel modes in favour of 
sustainable means of transport rather than the 
private car. Public transport and especially buses 
is a means of providing a sustainable travel option 
for the development.

There are several bus stops near the site.   
Destinations include Maidenhead town centre, 
Bracknell, Burnham, Wexham Park Hospital, Slough 
and Windsor. Bus stop locations are set out below.

• On Windsor Road moving northwards just 
before the junction with Harvest Hill Road 
there is a bus stop servicing bus routes 4A and 
53. Opposite this bus stop, at the southwards 
direction, there is a bus stop for bus routes 4,16 
and 53. 

• At Braywick Road, adjacent to the Braywick 
cemetery there is a further bus stop servicing 
routes 4,16 and 53. At Braywick Road to the 
north there are two bus stops servicing routes 
4A and 53. One bus stop is located south of 
Braywick Grange and the second is located in 
front of Meadowbank Care home.

• At Shoppenhangers Road south of the rail 
station there are bus stops in each direction. 
Both are key locations for the railway station 
which is adjacent to these stops. The bus stop 

at the westwards direction is for the buses 4, 7 
and 7B while the other one is for buses 4 and 7.

• At the junction of Shoppenhangers Road 
with Ludlow Road there are bus stops for 
routes 4 and 7 in both directions. Opposite 
of Desborough College at the northwards 
direction of   Shoppenhangers Road there is 
a bus stop for buses 4A, 7 and 7B. There are 
further bus stops located on Larchfi eld Road 
near the junction with Shoppenhangers Road 
in both directions. These serve routes 4 and 7 
westbound and 7 and 7B eastbound.

 
The site is accessible by rail with Maidenhead 
Railway Station located directly north of the 
site, with access via current footpaths and also 
accessible by the local bus services. Maidenhead 
railway station provides connections to the 
regional and national rail network. The station 
already provides approximately 32 cycle storage 
spaces and has step free access to the platforms.

The level of service to key destinations include:
• Twyford (7 minutes journey): up to 5 trains per 

hour during peak periods;
• Reading (16 minutes journey): up to 5 trains per 

hour during peak periods;
• Oxford (64 minutes journey): up to 3 trains per 

hour during peak periods;
• Slough (9 minutes journey): up to 5 trains per 

hour during peak periods;
• Hayes (23 minutes journey): up to 4 trains per 

hour during peak periods; and
• London Paddington (40 minutes journey): up to 

5 trains per hour during peak periods.

These services will be further enhanced in 2019 
with the introduction of the Queen Elizabeth Line 
(Crossrail). The new line, results in a redevelopment 
of the station including extended platforms, new 
canopy’s, major public realm changes to the front 
of the station including new improved pedestrian 
and cycle facilities for moving through and 
providing access to and from the station. The rear 
entrance onto Shoppenhangers Road will also be 
enhanced.

Fig 4: Primary movement routes Fig 5: Bus routes

These services will be further enhanced in 
2019 with the introduction of Crossrail.

24



 18  19

Key

Fig 6: Landform

0.5 m Contours

Surface water

Site Boundary

Scale NTS

N

Landscape Features
There are no on-site statutory landscape 
designations.  A preliminary Landscape, 
Townscape and Visual Appraisal has been carried 
out to understand the relationship of the site to 
the local landscape and wider Green Belt context 
and ensure that it will not result in any signifi cant 
adverse landscape or visual effects.

The site occupies a low, plateau position that sits 
slightly higher than Maidenhead town centre to 
the north and a minor river valley of The Cut which 
runs to the south of Ockwells Manor. Further to the 
south the land rises to a localised hill at Foliejon 
Park and Holliday’s Plain. The site is occupied by 
an 18 hole golf course, including a club house 
and car parking. There are no water features on 
the site and the key landscape characteristics 
are woodland and specimen trees which are 
situated throughout the site. There are a number of 
small areas of native deciduous woodland which 
predominantly consist of  oak, ash, beech together 
with smaller species such as holly and hazel.  The 
largest of these, on the north-eastern part of the 
site, is known as Rushington Copse.  These trees 
provide a strong structure to the layout of the 
courses holes as well as visual enclosure around the 
boundaries of the site, giving the course a remote 
feel despite its proximity to Maidenhead town 
centre.

Landscape Character
The site lies within National Landscape Character 
Area 115 Thames Valley.  Here, the River Thames is 
described as providing a unifying feature through 
a very diverse landscape of urban and suburban 
settlements, infrastructure networks, fragmented 
agricultural land, historic parks, commons, 
woodland, reservoirs and extensive minerals 
workings.  A key characteristic of the landscape 
is the importance for recreation.  The ‘urban 
infl uence’ of London on the landscape including 
the dense network of roads and features such as 
golf courses is particularly noted.

A number of recommendations set out in Natural 
England’s NCA Profi le115 can be achieved 
within the masterplan for the golf course site.  
‘Statements of Environmental Opportunity’ SEO3 
highlights the opportunity to “plan for the creation 
of green infrastructure associated with signifi cant 
projected growth of urban areas and reduce the 
impact of development....” and  incorporating the 
“best practice environmental measures into any 
new development”.  These green infrastructure 
opportunities include the ‘Creation of multi-
functional natural greenspace surrounding new 
development, linking into the heart of urban areas 
as part of comprehensive green infrastructure 
planning.’ 

Within the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead Landscape Character Assessment 
(2004) the site lies within Landscape Character 
Area 8B Settled Farmed Sands and Clays: Ockwells; 
an area that abuts the southern edge of the 
town and includes part of the M3.  The site is not 
particularly characteristic of this rural landscape, 
however the nearby ‘M4, A404(M) and A304 (M) 
road corridors and associated embankments and 
recreational land uses’ are both listed as relevant 
‘key characteristics’ of the area.  The area around 
the site is described as a ‘damaged tract of 
landscape adjacent to the residential areas of 
Cox Green and Bray Wick’ and Maidenhead Golf 
Course is named as an example of an area where 
land has been turned over to recreation ground 
and the landscape around Maidenhead shows 
signs of ‘neglect’ and ‘localised blight from road 
development..and ‘edge of town uses‘.

The following recommendations made by 
the Assessment could be achieved within the 
masterplan: 
• Conserve & enhance intermittent open and 

enclosed character with some long distance 
views

• Conserve & enhance remnant woodland areas 
and copses

• Conserve & enhance rural lanes and footpaths

25



 20  2120

Key

Landscape Character Areas
8. Settled Farmed Sands and Clays

8b - Ockwells
8c - Holyport
8d - Fifi eld and Oakley Green

14. Settled Developed Floodplain
14b - Bray

Townscape Character Areas
1. Historic Town Cores

2. Historic Town Fringes

3. Historic Village Cores

4. Georgian Suburbs

5. Victorian Villages

6. Victorian and Edwardian Suburbs

7. Victorian/Edwardian and Riverside Villa 
Suburbs

8. Inter War Suburbs

9. Post War Suburbs (to 1960)

10. Late 20th Century Suburbs (1960s onwards)

11. Post War Residential Flats

12. ‘Executive’ Residential Estates

13. Leafy Residential Suburbs

14. Villas in a Woodland Setting

16. Large Institutional Development

17. Industrial and Commercial Estates

Source: Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Landscape Character Assessment (2004) 
and Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Townscape Character Assessment (2010)Fig 7: Landscape and Townscape Character Areas

Scale NTS

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Townscape Character
The site is not covered by the Royal Borough of 
Windsor & Maidenhead Townscape Character 
Assessment (2010), but the built environment 
around it lie within a number of character areas as 
described below.

Townscape Type 13. Leafy Residential Suburbs
To the immediate west and north-east of the 
site, the adjacent Shoppenhangers Road and 
Rushington Avenue/Braywick Road areas lie within 
the Leafy Residential Suburbs character type. 
These are defi ned as leafy low to medium density 
areas with wide streets and straight or curvilinear 
streets. Built form is typifi ed by two storey detached 
properties on large plots, generally fronting the 
roads, with mature gardens providing a strong 
sense of enclosure. This leafy character helps 
screen the golf course from the wider area. This 
screening is further assisted by the two and three 
storey apartment blocks on the eastern side of 
Shoppenhangers Road that form part of this area. 

Townscape Type 9 Post War Suburbs (to 1960)
On the south-eastern side of the site, the adjacent 
Braywick Road/Walker Road areas lie within the 
Townscape Type 9, as does the Courtlands estate 
immediately to the north and the Desborough 
Park area to the west of Shoppenhangers Road. 
These are described as medium density residential 
suburbs consisting of a distinctive network of 

curvilinear streets with closes and cul de sacs. 
Properties are described as consisting of two storey 
semi-detached dwellings and short terraces set in 
regular plots with off-street parking, although in the 
Braywick Road/Walker Road area, properties are 
generally detached. The residential nature of this 
area will complement the residential proposals for 
Maidenhead Golf Course, forming an extension to 
the existing community.

Townscape Type 17 Industrial and Commercial 
Estates
To the south-west of the site, Concorde Park is 
a relatively extensive area of employment uses. 
Similarly to the north-east of Braywick Road there 
is a further small area of large offi ces. These areas 
are defi ned as low density 20th century industrial 
and commercial areas, including industrial parks, 
business parks and offi ces. Buildings are generally 
large and accessed by straight cul de sac roads. 
There is no intervisibility or physical connectivity 
between these character areas and the site, 
however their proximity will provide potential 
employment opportunities for residents of the new 
development.

Townscape Type 2 Historic Town Fringes
To the north of Courtlands and Shoppenhangers 
Road approximately 0.25km to the north of the site, 
the Historic Town Fringes lie between the railway 
and town centre. Land uses are varied here, 
including transport, offi ces, retailing/commercial, 

leisure/recreation and civic uses.  Historic street 
patterns are generally altered by ring roads, 
railways or large scale development plots. Block 
patterns are characterised by large scale buildings 
creating a large scale urban form of high density 
development. Adjacent semi-private open spaces 
are often given over to car parking (page 41). The 
area includes both Victorian development around 
the railway station as well as much larger scale 
late 20th Century buildings and is described as a 
‘colourful and busy urban environment although 
less intensively used than the Historic Town Cores.’  
The proximity of the site to this area enhances 
its sustainability, facilitating connections to 
employment as well as transport to the wider area 
via the railway and wider road network.

Townscape Type 2 Historic Town Cores
To the north of Townscape Type 1, the Historic Town 
Cores has no intervisibility with the site however 
given that it lies within 0.6km of the site’s northern 
boundary it provides an attractive economic hub 
within easy access of the site. The historic focus to 
the town was the wide marketplace and the block 
pattern, urban grain and scale of the core remains 
intact. There is no visual or physical connection 
between the site and Maidenhead’s historic core 
and the proposed development would not affect 
these characteristics.

26



 22  23
View 7 - Northern part of golf course

View 4 - Kingswood Court

Fig 8: Aerial photograph and photograph viewpoints 

N

Busdens Way

08

07

01
03

04
02

06

05

09

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

View 2- Shoppenhangers Road View 3- Rushington Avenue

View 6 - Harvest Hill Road

View 8 - Southern boundary of golf course

View 1 - Site entrance

View 5 - Walker Road

View 9 - Western boundary of golf course

Visual Context
The site is visually enclosed by existing 
woodland and large trees along much 
of its eastern and northern boundaries, 
including Rushington Copse. By retaining 
these important trees, views from the 
existing residents of housing to the 
north and east will be extremely limited, 
especially during the summer months.

To the south of the site, Harvest Hill 
Road benefi ts from mature hedgerow 
vegetation along the site’s boundary 
as well as specimen trees within the 
southern end of the golf course. These 
limit views into the site from the south, 
and by retaining vegetation in this area, 
the semi-rural nature of the lane and 
views from the south could be conserved.

To the east of the site, existing properties 
on the eastern side of Shoppenhangers 
Road screen views of the site from the 
wider area.  Existing vegetation along 
some of these boundaries will help 
visually integrate the new development 
with adjacent properties, and the 
sensitive treatment of these boundaries 
and new development within this part of 
the site will further reduce visual impacts 
in this limited area.

27



 24  25

Key

Green Belt 

Local Nature Reserve 

Local Wildlife Site

Biodiversity Opportunity Areas

Site of Special Scientifi c Interest 

Deciduous Woodland Priority 

Habitat

Ancient Monuments

Listed Buildings

Site Boundary

Arboriculture  
An arboricultural walkover appraisal 
has been undertaken for the Site. 
This found that there are a number 
of hedgerows, individual trees, tree 
groups and woodlands within the Site; 
the majority of which were assessed 
as being of Category B (moderate 
quality and value, in line with BS 
5837:2012). There are also individual 
trees, groups of trees and woodlands 
in both Category C (low quality and 
value) and Category A (high quality 
and value) within the Site. 

In order to inform a detailed 
masterplan for the Site, a full 
arboricultural impact assessment 
(AIA), informed by the results of a 
tree survey will be submitted, along 
with a Tree Protection Plan and tree 
schedule. The Tree Protection Plan 
and tree schedule, within the AIA, will 
inform on the number of trees to be 
removed.

Ecology    
An ecological appraisal of the 
Site, informed by a desk study 
and walkover survey, has been 
undertaken. This study has allowed 
the key ecological features 
associated with the Site and its 
surrounds to be identifi ed, and has 
informed the development of the 
concept masterplan. 

Nature Conservation Designations
Within a 10 km radius of the Site 
there are three designated areas of 
international importance, the closest 
being Windsor Forest and Great 
Park Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) located approximately 4.5 km 
to the south-east of the site. There 
are also two nationally designated 
Sites of Special Scientifi c Interest 
(SSSIs) located within 2 km of the Site 
boundary. The closest of these (Bray 
Meadows SSSI) lies approximately 
840 m to the east and is designated 
for its unimproved grassland habitats 
supporting both calcareous and 
wetland species. The masterplan 
has considered the potential for 
future development of the Site to 
indirectly impact nearby designated 
areas, and will mitigate such risks 

through the provision of on-site 
recreational space, the guiding of 
recreational use to avoid the most 
sensitive areas, the adoption of an 
appropriate drainage design, and 
the implementation of a robust 
Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP). 

Site Habitats
The Site itself predominantly 
comprises woodland parcels and 
low-quality grassland, interspersed 
with mosaic areas, scattered 
trees, scrub, tall ruderal vegetation 
hedgerows and existing built 
development. Some of the Site’s 
woodlands are designated as 
priority habitats or ‘Habitat of 
Principal Importance’ (HPI) and 
there is the potential for a range 
of protected or notable species to 
be present. Baseline survey work 
will be completed as part of the 
detailed design of the masterplan 
to better understand the distribution 
of these species within the Site, 
and develop strategies to avoid, 
mitigate or compensate for the 
potential impacts of the specifi c 
redevelopment proposals. 

Mature oak trees along eastern boundary

Harvest Hill Road hedgerow boundary

Fig 9: Designations and Features

Scale NTS

N

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

28



 26  2726

Archaeology and Heritage
An historic environment desk 
based assessment has been 
prepared based on the available 
archaeological, historic, 
topographic and land-use 
information.  

From at least the thirteenth 
century, the site formed part of 
the Shoppenhanger Farm Estate. 
In the late 19th century it was 
leased to become a golf course, 
with Maidenhead Golf Club being 
formed in 1896.

Archaeology
The evidence shows that the 
site has a moderate potential to 
contain buried remains from the 
prehistoric and Roman periods, 
due to the relative proximity of 
remains from this period. The 
evidence suggests that there is 
a low potential for remains of 

interest from other periods. Any 
remains which may be present will 
have been subject to truncation 
by landscaping activities, which 
would have occurred as part 
of the use of the site as a golf 
course. Given this, and also 
the absence of any records 
of earthworks or other similar 
indicators of signifi cant remains 
within the study site, it is considered 
unlikely that the study site will 
contain buried archaeological 
remains of high signifi cance, 
such that would preclude the 
development of the study site. 
However, remains of local interest 
cannot be discounted at this 
stage.  If present their loss could be 
mitigated through a programme of 
archaeological investigation and
recording work secured via the 
normal mechanisms afforded by 
the planning process.

Heritage Assets
The potential impacts on 
designated heritage assets (listed 
buildings and scheduled ancient 
monuments) in the surrounding 
area have also been considered. 
This shows that there are only 
four historic assets within 500m 
of the site, the closest being 
Braywick House, 150m to the 
south-east.  Due to the presence 
of considerable modern residential 
development the site is well 
screened from these assets, and 
does not form part of their settings. 
The development of the study site 
would therefore not be likely to 
materially change the setting or 
affect the signifi cance of any of 
the designated assets.

Contains Ordnance Survey data
Crown copyright and database right 2014

Legend

Title:

1:7,500 at A4

N
Fig. 10: 1960-61 OS Map 1:10,000
Address:
Lan at Maidenhead Golf Course

0 250m

48
90

00

180000

Site

Contains Ordnance Survey data
Crown copyright and database right 2014

Legend

Title:

1:7,500 at A4

N
Fig. 7: 1901 OS Map 1:10,560
Address:
Lan at Maidenhead Golf Course

0 250m

48
90

00

180000

Site

Contains Ordnance Survey data
Crown copyright and database right 2014

Legend

Title:

1:7,500 at A4

N
Fig. 6: 1881-821 OS Map 1:10,560
Address:
Lan at Maidenhead Golf Course

0 250m

48
90

00

180000

Site

Fig 10: Historic Mapping

1881 19601901

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

29



 28  29

Checked: RF

Drawn: DRL

0 500250
m

Z:\Projects\41006\FRA\FRA\mxd/Figure007_HistoricFloodMap.mxd

1:7,500 @ A3

23/08/17

Figure 004 Rev A

Contains Environment Agency information © Environment Agency and/or database right
Contains Ordnance Survey data (c) Crown copyright and database right 2016.

Flood Zones refer to the probability of river and/or sea flooding, ignoring the presence of defences

MAIDENHEAD GOLF CLUB EA Flood ZoneClient

Main river

Flood Zone 3
Flood Zone 2

Site boundary

Areas benefiting from
flood defences

Flood Zone 1

Utilities
A Utilities Review has been undertaken by Peter 
Brett Associates, including gas, water, electricity and 
supply, telecoms and waste water

This shows that all existing  utilities infrastructure is 
located on the site boundary and none currently 
cross the site.  As such there are no utility constraints 
on site.       
 

Fig 9: Flood Risk
Checked: RF

Drawn: DRL

0 500250
m

Z:\Projects\41006\FRA\FRA\mxd/Figure007_HistoricFloodMap.mxd

1:7,500 @ A3

23/08/17

Figure 005 Rev A

Contains Environment Agency information © Environment Agency and database right
Contains Ordnance Survey data (c) Crown copyright and database right 2016.

Maps based on EA updated ‘Flood Map for Surface Water’ (‘uFMfSW’) released in 2013 as the latest iteration of a national scale
surface water modelling exercise

MAIDENHEAD GOLF CLUB EA Surface Water Flood RiskClient

Risk of flooding from surface water
Site boundary

Medium – 1 in 100 annual probability
High – 1 in 30 annual probability

Low – 1 in 1000 annual probability
Very Low -  less than 1 in 1000
annual probability

Fig 10: Surface Water Flood Risk

Flooding
The site is located within Flood Zone 1 ‘Low 
Probability’ of fl ooding from rivers and the sea and 
is located outside of a residual risk zone of reservoir 
fl ooding. The majority of the site has a ‘very low’ to 
‘low’ risk of surface water fl ooding. A review of fl ood 
risk information indicates that there have been no 
records of historic fl ooding at the site. The analysis 
confi rms that development can be designed to 
meet the key fl ood risk requirements in accordance 
with national and local planning policy – i.e.:
• Minimum ground fl oor levels will be signifi cantly 

above any reference fl uvial fl ood levels 
• New development would not impact on 

fl oodplain storage or fl ood fl ow routes;  
• Continuous safe access is available;

Surface Water Drainage
The proposals are for ‘Major Development’ and 
will therefore require a surface water drainage 
strategy to manage runoff from any proposed 
impermeable areas at the site. This is anticipated 
to be via infi ltration or a combination of on-site 
attenuation features, with a controlled discharge 
to the surrounding drainage system(s).  RBWM are 
responsible for the approval of such a drainage 
strategy.

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

30



 30  31

Retained Green Space/ New Open 
Space

Community Hub 
(Mixed use residential/ Retail/ Community)

Primary Vehicular Connections (Including 
Bus Routes)

Public Footpath Links Retained

Education

scale: NTS

Low Density Residential (approx 40 dph*)

Medium Density Residential (approx. 80 dph*)

High Density Residential (approx 145 dph*)

Residential development:

*dwellings per hectare

05. Concept Design

Key design infl uences
The  Concept Masterplan illustrates the Vision for 
the proposed development of the Maidenhead 
Golf Course.  The following principles highlight 
some of the key qualities of the proposed 
development to help create an innovative and 
sustainable place, whilst delivering up to 2000 new 
homes. 

Establishing a vibrant mixed use 
community.
The proposal seizes the opportunity to create a 
successful neighbourhood that enhances the 
mix of uses and activities that aready exist in the 
adjoining areas.  It will create a positive relationship 
between the existing residential neighbourhoods 
to the east and west and commercial heart of 
Maidenhead to the north.  The neighbourhood 
will also include a mixed use community hub 
at its centre including apartments, retail units 
and opportunities for community facilities.  To 
the south of the site, a large area of land can 
accommodate school space for both primary and 
secondary age children. 

A Mix of Homes
The proposal will deliver the balance of housing 
and recreation needed to create a strong 
community.  It will provide a broad range of 
homes, with unit types and tenures responding to 
local market requirements and ensuring a viable 
and lasting development.  It will be a place in 
which people want to live.

The scale and form of development will respond 
to existing site characteristics (including trees and 
woodland) as well as the roles and responsibilities 
of the place being created (relationship to 
public space, transport corridors and adjoining 
townscape).   Higher density living will be provided 
at the northern end of the site, closer to the town 
centre and railway station, with a predominance 
of apartments, whilst much of the rest of the site 
will consist of a mix of family town houses and 
apartments. At the southern end of the site, closer 
to the edge of Maidenhead, densities will be lower, 
to allow for a higher proportion of family homes.

Fig 11: Masterplan

S
ho

pp
en

ha
n

g
er

s 
R

d

 R
u

shin
g

ton
 A

ve
B

ray
w

ick
 R

d

B
ray

w
ick

 R
d

Braywick Sports 
and Recreation 

Ground

Desborough 
College

Maidenhead 
Station

Maidenhead 
Rugby Football 

Club

Harvest Hill Rd

Kingswood
 Ct

A
3

08

W
alker R

d

The  Concept Masterplan illustrates the Vision for the land at Maidenhead Golf Course.  The following principles highlight some of the key 
qualities of the proposed development to help create an innovative and sustainable place, whilst delivering up to 2,000 new homes for 
Maidenhead.

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

N

31



 33

• Create a green network to enhance 
biodiversity and access to amenity for the 
community

• Create a range of opportunities for sport 
recreation and play.  Community sports 
facilities will be will be available through 
shared use with the schools as well as access 
to Braywick Sports and Recreation Ground.

• Highlight the balance between vehicles and 
pedestrians with increased priority given to 
pedestrians and cyclists

• A ‘green’ neighbourhood, with street tree 
planting to unify the architecture

• Careful choice of materials and street 
furniture to enhance the understanding of 
the hierarchy of streets and spaces through 
landscape treatment

• Opportunities for local food growing

• Create streets and squares that are places 
for people to enjoy rather than simply 
passing through

• An integrated SuDs system that will form 
an attractive part of the wider green 
infrastructure network

Landscape Strategy
The proposed development will see a 
predominance of residential development in a 
series of discreet areas surrounded by a network of 
open spaces.  The most valuable trees and areas 
of woodland habitat, will be retained wherever 
possible.  In particular mature vegetation around 
the site boundaries will be retained as well as 
extensive areas of the ‘Deciduous Woodland’ 
Priority Habitat.  New trees and shrubs will also 
be provided, enhancing new open spaces and 
forming avenues down key streets.  In particular, 
the masterplan will seek to achieve a network of 
connected green corridors based on the retention 
of existing woodlands and trees.

A focus on high quality public realm design and 
the application of sustainable design solutions 
to limit the impact of development will be key to 
the success of the scheme and to meeting the 
following objectives:

Arboriculture Strategy
A detailed landscape strategy will  be developed 
with arboricultural constraints in mind.  This will 
seek to retain the most valuable trees and areas 
of woodland habitat and increase and enhance 
local green infrastructure.  It will guide the provision 
of new trees and shrubs, suitable for the new 
environment with consideration to species and 
maturing space.  

A suitable aftercare regime will also be in place 
to successfully take the new trees through to 
establishment. Consideration of transplanting 
existing smaller trees for re-use through the Site will 
also be given, wherever possible. The arisings from 
felled trees will be considered for re-use around 
the site where appropriate. This may include; 
play areas and seating in Public Open Spaces 
and hibernacula in woodland areas suitable for a 
range of wildlife.

In summary, whilst the masterplan will result in 
the loss of some trees and smaller pockets of 
woodland habitat, mitigation in the form of 
replanting of trees and shrubs and augmenting 
woodland and green corridors should suffi ciently 
mitigate the impacts. 

woodland habitat, mitigation in the form of 

 33

replanting of trees and shrubs and augmenting 
woodland and green corridors should suffi ciently 

Drainage features could be a key feature 
of new development

Footpaths and access routes could 
interweave through Rushington Copse

The site is within walking distance of local 
services and will provide additional on-site 
facilities

Buildings will vary in height, offering visual 
interest to the townscape

N

New homes set within wooded setting Green corridors can be incorporated 
throughout

Recreational routes through woodland 
edges next to new housing

Mature trees will be incorporated within the 
streetscale wherever possible

School fronting the street can form an 
active frontage to the neighbourhood

Incorporation of soft public realm elements 
throughout.

Wooded corridors create a strong sense of 
place to the development

Soft, informal edges adjacent to 
woodlands

Avenue trees will be a key feature 
throughout the site

Opportunities for formal and informal play 
throughout the site, including woodland 
areas.

Woodland glades reaches into a 
development edge 

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

32



 34  35

=Biodiversity Strategy 
The masterplan allows for the retention of those 
habitats assessed as being of greatest ecological 
value including the larger woodland parcels, some 
of the grassland areas, hedgerows, peripheral 
mosaic habitat and tree lines.  

The majority of the new built footprint will 
therefore fall predominantly within habitats of low 
ecological value (amenity grassland and existing 
hardstanding). Jointly these measures, combined 
with new areas of linking habitat, create a robust 
network that connects habitats within the Site 
and wider environment such that conditions 
for protected and notable species likely to be 
associated with the Site will be maintained and 
potentially enhanced. As the masterplan will result 
in the loss of some areas of woodland habitat, off-
site compensation will also be explored, the extent 
of which will depend on the detailed masterplan. 
The provision of off-site compensatory habitat 
can be used to offset the loss of these on-site 
woodland areas and help to achieve a net gain in 
biodiversity value on a local scale as a result of the 
proposed development.

In summary, the masterplan’s development has 
been guided by the following principles to allow for 
a policy compliant scheme:

• As far as possible, retain, protect, restore 
and maintain ecologically valuable habitat 
(woodland habitats in particular) and facilitate 
permeability across the Site and into the wider 
area;

• Ensure there is no overall loss of ecologically 
valuable habitat, and where possible, provide 
ecological enhancements or biodiversity gain; 

•  Prevent isolation of any habitat on and 
immediately off Site, and in doing so, contribute 
to a comprehensive green infrastructure 
network; and

• Allow for continued habitat provision for 
protected and notable species known or likely 
to be present on Site. 

Site Movement Strategy
The internal road network and the access points 
will include dedicated footway/cycleways across 
the site, linking the internal facilities, community 
hub, open space and education facilities as well 
as existing facilities in the wider area. This will ensure 
that the development will have a comprehensive 
connectivity and a high level of accessibility for the 
site across all modes.

The internal road system will consider use of bus 
only links, which provides the option for site wide 
bus access. This priority through the site could 
utilise bus gates located centrally to allow for 
buses to pass, whilst preventing the site becoming 
an alternative route for external traffi c avoiding 
Shoppenhangers Road or the A308 Braywick Road.

The scheme has been designed to allow for the 
provision of new bus services or diversion of existing 
to travel through the site to support the residential, 
district centre and schools.  The internal primary 
road network can be designed so that each 
resident will be within 200m of a bus route.
The philosophy of the scheme is to promote 
sustainable transport opportunities across the site, 
providing key links to the town centre, station, bus 
services and public realm/leisure facilities.  This is 
reinforced by the provision of education factors 
within the development which will reduce the 
need for trips to leave the site, thus again limiting 
the impact on the surrounding network. 

Open space and tree planting will form an integral 
part of the devepment

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

33



 36  37

Land at Maidenhead Golf Course - Vision Document September 2017

Going forwards the masterplan for 
the site will be further refined as more 
detailed studies are carried out. This 
will continue to develop the strategy 
that delivers a comprehensive and 
highly accessible development to 
provide circa 2000 new homes close 
to the centre of Maidenhead. The 
development will include affordable 
housing, public open space and new 
education facilities.

At the appropriate stage the Council 
will seek to engage with the local 
community and key stakeholders 
concerning the proposals for the site.

06. Next Steps

34



 38

35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

37

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

39

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	4 Maidenhead Golf Club
	6 Minutes
	7 Maidenhead Golf Club - Appendix

